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DARREL NELSON8Southern Alberta
The Ongoing Mission

◀ Darrel Nelson, a resident of Raymond, Alberta, is a retired schoolteacher with thirty-seven years of experience. 
His teaching career spanned five years at the high school level, teaching English, and thirty-two years at the elemen-
tary school level, teaching all subjects. He has written articles, plays, and music and is a successful novelist, with 
three highly acclaimed titles, The Anniversary Waltz, The Return of Cassandra Todd, and Following Rain. He 
served a two-year mission to Japan in 1970–71, has served as a bishop, taught early-morning seminary, and served 
as a temple worker. He and his wife, Marsha Smith, are currently serving as full-time self-reliance service mission-
aries. The couple are the parents of four children and grandparents of ten. (Darrel Nelson)

Alberta. He made a contrast with the Mormon settlements 
in northern Mexico where some of his family had lived. 
These settlements were both founded at about the same 
time by people leaving Utah and surrounding states over 
the conflict with the US federal government and polyg-
amy. He noted that we had had a temple here in Canada 
in  the vicinity for about seventy-five years at that time, 
while the temple in Colonia Juárez had been dedicated only 
the previous year in 1999. We talked at length about the 
effect of the presence of a temple in the creation of a strong 
multigenerational church community.”3

The concept of a “strong multigenerational church 
community” is the subject of this chapter. It examines 
the growth and development of the Church in southern 
Alberta in the postsettlement period since the dedication 
of the Cardston Alberta Temple. This chapter also examines 
the economic and world conditions that have had an impact 
on the Church in the region and identifies how the Saints 
have been blessed spiritually and fortified for their trials 
by having a temple in their midst. This southern Albertan 
nucleus of strength has been the seedbed for the growth 
of the Church in Canada, from the original settlements to 

The blessings of having a temple in southern Alberta for 
nearly a century are simply incalculable. From the moment 
it became operational in August 1923, the Alberta Temple 
has stood as the great symbol of local Latter-day Saint mem-
bership. It remains a divine constant amid ever-changing 
physical and social circumstances, the anchor of faith for 
Saints living in the area.

Commenting on the temple’s significance at the time of its 
dedication, C. Frank Steele, a Church member and writer for 
the Lethbridge Herald, eulogized the early Mormon pioneers 
of southern Alberta: “Here was a crowning reward for their 
faithfulness, a symbol of permanency in their new Canadian 
home, an evidence surest of all, perhaps, that this was destined 
to be a favored gathering place for the Saints. . . . The Temple 
brought unity to the Saints and fortified them for trials.”2

From the vantage point of hindsight, the blessings have 
become increasingly apparent. When Henry B. Eyring, 
then a member of the Quorum of the Twelve, visited Ray-
mond in October 2000, Terrence C. Smith, president of the 
Raymond Alberta Stake, reported:

“During his visit [Elder Eyring] was very interested in 
the depth and commitment of the Church here in southern 
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the establishment of stakes, missions, and 
temples across the entire country.

SOUTHERN ALBERTA CHURCH 
IN THE 1920S AND 1930S
Trials and challenges were a part of life 
during the early years of colonization in 
southern Alberta and throughout the 1920s 
and 1930s. At the same time, it should be 
remembered that the history of the Church 
in southern Alberta is integrated with that 
of the larger population, as Latter-day 
Saints have been the core members of sev-
eral southern Alberta communities.

An Arid Region
One daunting challenge was the ongoing 
efforts to quench the thirst of the region’s 
semiarid soil, made even drier by the warm 
Chinook winds that frequent the area. As 
indicated in the Alberta settlement chapter, 
the Palliser Triangle, in which the Saints 
settled, was deemed too arid for agricul-
ture. One of the major contributions of 
Mormons in Canada was the introduction 
of irrigation into that region to make it a 
rich agricultural land.4

The extension of irrigation, as shown 
in the map, continued through the 1920s 
and 1930s under the auspices of local 

irrigation districts. In 1914, the govern-
ment of Alberta passed legislation allow-
ing the formation of a local cooperative 
to organize irrigation districts.5 Originally 
belonging to the Galts and then to the 
Canadian Pacific Railway, the irrigation 
systems were expanded as local farmers 
banded together, purchased the systems 
from the railway company, and developed 
and adapted them to meet their needs.6 For 
example, the Southern Irrigation District, 
established in 1919, was divided to create 
the Magrath Irrigation District in 1922 and 
the Raymond Irrigation District in 1924. As 
additional canal systems continued to net-
work across southern Alberta, the number 
of irrigation districts increased to eight by 
the end of 1936. This allowed hundreds of 
thousands of additional hectares of land to 
become productive.7

Although the land was irrigated, the 
system depended on river flow, which was 
often low late in the growing season—so 
even irrigated lands were often short of 
water. That is why reservoirs were created 
later, to guarantee the supply of water in 
drier years. The St. Mary, Jensen, and Milk 
River Ridge Reservoirs were all built in the 
early 1950s with funding from senior levels 
of government.8 In this way irrigation 

◀ A radiant bride and hand-
some groom (Emily and Ben 
Roberts) at the Cardston 
Alberta Temple, enjoying 
a happy moment with the 
bride’s grandparents (William 
and Margaret Drew). The 
temple, which was dedicated 
in 1923, has been the spiritual 
focus of the southern Alberta 
settlement. Sacred temple 
ordinances, with the promise 
of eternal family relationships, 
have been an ongoing source 
of strength to the Latter-day 
Saints in southern Alberta. 
(Tom Matkin)

▶ From humble beginnings 
more than a century ago, 
when Mormons experimented 
with irrigation in the Card-
ston area, irrigation projects 
had expanded by 2015 to 
service more than six hundred 
thousand productive hectares 
(nearly one and a half million 
acres) of Alberta land, mostly 
within the thirteen irrigation 
districts in southern Alberta.
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opened up southern Alberta to settlement and allowed the 
Church to flourish in the wilderness. In 2016 there were 
thirteen irrigation districts in southern Alberta supplying 
water to approximately a half million hectares of land. In 
addition, there were many private irrigation projects, which 
supplied water to another hundred thousand hectares.9

As Latter-day Saint farmers moved northward from 
the original settlements in the early twentieth century, they 
established settlements in many southern Alberta locations. 
Some settlements were made on lands serviced by irriga-
tion districts, while some farmers opted for nonirrigated 
lands (see map above). The prolonged drought during the 
Great Depression of the 1930s caused several of the dry-
farm communities to disappear, including Frankburg and 
Starline, while those in irrigation districts survived.

The extension of irrigation and other settlements in the 
1920s and 1930s resulted in the creation of additional wards 
and branches in the three local stakes of Zion—Alberta, 
Taylor, and Lethbridge. For example, the Hartley and Persh-
ing Branches were formed in the Alberta Stake in 1928 
and 1933 respectively. The Taylor Stake increased with the 

creation of the Magrath Second Ward in 1922, the Wren-
tham Branch in 1932, the Tyrrell’s Lake Branch in 1935, 
and the Warner Branch in 1939. And the Lethbridge Stake 
expanded with the addition of the Diamond City Branch in 
1928 and the Picture Butte Branch in 1936.10

Initially, LDS settlers preferred to be centralized into 
farming villages so they could attend meetings and partic-
ipate in the LDS community. The introduction of the auto-
mobile in the first decades of the twentieth century, however, 
allowed LDS farmers to live on their homesteads but travel 
into towns to participate in the programs of the Church. 
Predominately LDS communities such as Barnwell, Taber, 
and Rosemary grew as LDS members continued to disperse 
as new irrigation systems opened up additional farmland 
around southern Alberta. Expanding the irrigation systems 
to meet the influx of settlers was a major ongoing effort, and 
those who did not have land under irrigation were at the 
mercy of nature’s demanding and fickle disposition.

During the early 1920s, several exceptionally dry years 
followed one another in succession. Many of the Saints in 
southern Alberta were discouraged, and some returned to 
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the United States. Melvin J. Ballard of  the 
Quorum of the Twelve Apostles visited 
the  Taylor Stake conference in May 1922, 
where he counselled the Saints to plant 
all the grain they could but not to go into 
debt to do it. According to one account, 

“Through the power of the Priesthood, he 
blessed the elements for our good and 
rebuked the power of the destroyer. The 
crops were sown and it was still dry. On 
28 June it started to rain and it continued 
to rain. The crops matured, the harvest was 
ideal and the frosts were stayed. As a result 
this part of the country where our people 
are located garnered the best crop since 
1916.”11

This pattern would repeat itself many 
times in southern Alberta over the years. In 
the spring of 2002, Elder Jeffrey R. Holland 
of the Quorum of the Twelve visited the 
Fort Macleod Alberta Stake and counselled 
the Saints in that area to go ahead and plant 
their crops. The area was experiencing a 
prolonged drought, and the ground was 
parched. The Saints had been wondering 
what to do. Elder Holland promised them 
that if they would keep close to the Lord, 
take care of their families, attend the temple 
regularly, and keep the commandments, 
the rains would come. He then left an apos-
tolic blessing upon the area. The Saints 
heeded his advice and planted their crops. 
Not only did the rains arrive as promised 
but they came so dramatically that some 
local members jokingly commented that 
next time maybe they should get a less 
powerful person to pray for them! As of 
2014, the area had not experienced drought 
since, and there had always been adequate 
rain to ensure a good harvest.12

Growth Reflected in New Stakes
The arithmetic of the Church has always 
been multiplication by division. Stakes and 
wards increase in number as growth occurs 
and units are divided. Following this pattern, 
the Church continued to spread throughout 
southern Alberta because of natural increase, 
missionary work, and immigration.

Stake boundaries, therefore, had to 
be flexible, changing as units were added, 
transferred, or dissolved altogether. A 
snapshot of the Church in southern Alberta 
during the 1920s and ’30s reveals that 
many LDS settlers had moved northward, 
some to drylands and some to areas newly 
brought under irrigation. The widening 
circle of Latter-day Saint farming com-
munities (mainly as a result of expanding 
irrigation), the reintroduction of the sugar 
beet industry, and the use of better farming 
practices resulted in a widespread network 
of wards and branches. But from the cre-
ation of the Lethbridge Stake in 1921, it was 
thirty years before another stake was cre-
ated in Alberta—the East Lethbridge Stake. 
The uncertainty of the economics of the 
1930s, plus World War II, probably made 
the Church hesitant to proceed.

Although the original Alberta Stake 
had at one time covered the entire prov-
ince of Alberta, by 1933 its boundaries had 
shrunk to include only the fifteen units 
in Cardston and the surrounding com-
munities. By that date, the Taylor Stake, 
founded in 1903, consisted of seven units, 
from Magrath in the west to Warner in the 
southeast. By 1933, the Lethbridge Stake, 
formed in 1921, comprised seventeen units 
scattered from Fort Macleod to Calgary to 
Rosemary to Medicine Hat. There were also 
Church members living in Pincher Creek 
and at the Crowsnest Pass during this era, 
but they were not part of the Lethbridge 
Stake at that time.13

Urbanization
In 1930, two-thirds of the population of 
Alberta was classified as rural and one-
third as urban. By 1970, this proportion 
had more than reversed itself. Eighty per-
cent of the population was classified as 
urban and 20 percent as rural.14 There were 
multiple causes.

Improvements in transportation 
resulted in the redistribution of popu-
lation. The history of transportation in 
southern Alberta is not only the history 

 Melvin J. Ballard, ordained 
an Apostle in 1919, pro-
nounced an apostolic blessing 
on southern Alberta during 
his visit to the Taylor Stake 
in 1922, during a period of 
drought. The promised bless-
ings were realized when rains 
came and the farmers reaped 
the best harvest they had 
had in six years. (Intellectual 
Reserve, Inc. [hereafter IRI])

 Hugh B. Brown, an attor-
ney in Lethbridge, was called 
as the first president of the 
Lethbridge Stake in 1921. 
He is shown here with his 
wife, Zina, and their young 
family in 1923. Brown would 
later become an Apostle and 
a member of the First Presi-
dency. (IRI)

▶ Ardeth Greene (Kapp), at 
age fifteen or sixteen. (Ardeth 
Kapp)
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Growing up in Glenwood
Ardeth G. Kapp (Young Women General President, 
1984–92)

Growing up in the 1930s and 1940s in Glenwood, 
Alberta, a town of approximately 250 people north-
west of Cardston, I looked beyond the gravel road, 
wondering if there was anything out there for me. 
After a lifetime of experience, I make a journey back 
in time and realize it was all there for everyone, all 
that really mattered: the pattern for life.

The chirping melody from the meadowlarks, 
perched on the power lines running parallel to the 
ditch by the post office, established the well-known 
fact that “Glenwood is a pretty little town.” In this 
close-knit, largely LDS community, many relatives 
and friends, including the Indians from the Blood 
Indian Reserve and the Hutterites from the nearby 
colonies, through association together, helped us 
gain our “roots and wings.” The sense of commu-
nity provided a strong foundation and vision that 
reached far beyond the borders of our town.

I remember the importance of communication 
when our telephone number was #3, and Stan Reed, 
our postmaster, would sort the mail that came three 
times a week. We listened to the distant sound of the 
CPR (Canadian Pacific Railway) and the regular sound 
of the big school bell that reminded us to be in our 
place on time. We learned to be responsible citizens.

While the life of our family in town was focused 
on my parents’ general store, the local farming com-
munity, in which my father had a farm, was fully inte-
grated into our experience. We knew about raising 
lambs, swimming in the irrigation ditch, and the 
smell of freshly mown hay. We learned the powerful 
lesson of springtime, that we must reap what we sow.

 In Glenwood, we experienced the wind and the 
cold and prepared for the challenges that would be 
part of mortality as we were taught to listen to the 
whisperings of the Spirit. One Tuesday afternoon 
at four o’clock, the roots of faith, hope, and prayers 
reached deep into the tapestry of our lives. The word 
spread rapidly that brought the town together. Our 
dear bishop had lost his leg and maybe his life in a 
threshing-machine accident. This became a real expe-
rience—not just a lesson in Sunday School—about faith 
and hope and evidence that our prayers were heard.

Membership in the Church was the very focus 
of our lives, with the Cardston Alberta Temple just 

twenty miles away. Our church building on week-
days provided a dance hall, a basketball court, and 
a stage for the performing arts. The loud applause 
for every performer, from the hometown audience, 
helped provide confidence for future years on other 
stages of life.

If a school is best judged by the caliber of its 
graduates, the Glenwood school can look with sat-
isfaction at the number of eminent alumni who have 
excelled in their fields, including inventors, authors, 
doctors, professors, engineers, a university dean, 
and members of the legislature, plus a remarkable 
number of Church leaders, including several general 
officers in the worldwide Church.

My purpose is not only to tell about the mar-
velous experience of growing up in Glenwood, but 
also to share the lessons and values and commit-
ments that we learned, grounded and rooted in the 
gospel of Jesus Christ. This seemingly insignificant 
little town we still call home continues to carry the 
banner of dedication and commitment to eternal 
values from one generation to the next.
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of economic growth and development but 
also of technology. In the early years, the 
speed of transportation, whether by foot 
or by wagon, averaged two to three miles 
per hour. This resulted in communities and 
grain elevators being spaced along the rail-
way from eight to ten miles apart to facil-
itate travel between them. Improvements 
in transportation, from horse and buggy 
to Model Ts and trucks, affected lifestyles 
dramatically. As transportation improved 
and hard-surfaced roads were introduced, 
the need for a tight network of local com-
munities disappeared. The result was a 
great increase in urban development.15 In 
the ensuing decades, smaller communi-
ties were frequently bypassed in favour of 
larger centres, and this had a significant 
impact on the Church as well as small-
town businesses. For example, when the 
highway from Cardston to Lethbridge was 
paved, local industries in Magrath, such 
as the Woolen Mill and the Alberta Can-
ning Company, were drastically affected 
and eventually had to close their doors.16 

Lethbridge, a railway centre, which had coal 
mines and was the distribution centre for 
southern Alberta, even before the arrival of 
the Card settlement in 1887, took on new 
life as a focal point for the establishment of 
local industry.17

Changes occurred not only to the urban 
landscape but also to the rural landscape. 
During the 1940s, the average size of farms 
increased due to the rapid mechanization of 
agriculture, while the actual number of farms 
decreased. As a result, many rural villages 
disappeared, including Frankburg, Harris-
ville, and Commerce, forcing the closure or 
realignment of their wards and branches.18

Throughout the ebb and flow of these 
population changes, the Church mem-
bership was strengthened by faithful, 
long-serving leaders who worked tire-
lessly to promote and develop the Church 
in southern Alberta. One such exemplary 
leader was E. J. Wood, who served as presi-
dent of the Alberta Stake from 1903 to 1942 
and as president of the Alberta Temple 
from 1923 to 1948.

E. J. Wood: Spiritual Giant in Southern Alberta
A man of great faith, Edward James Wood was a tireless leader of the Church in 
southern Alberta. He was born in Salt Lake City on 27 October 1866 to William 
Wood and Elizabeth Gentry. After serving two missions in Samoa (one as mission 
president), he was called at age thirty-five by President Joseph F. Smith to relocate 
to Canada. He arrived in Cardston on 7 November 1901 and, before the first month 
passed, was on the high council.

On 31 August 1903, he became president of the Alberta Stake. During his thirty-
nine-year tenure as stake president, he was called in 1923 to be the president of the 
Alberta Temple. He served in both positions concurrently for nineteen years. He was 
released as stake president in 1942 but continued as temple president until 1948, at 
which time he was eighty-two years old.

He not only made significant contributions to the Church but also to the 
community. As an agent for the Church, he administered the Church ranch and 
supervised the division and sale of the land to Latter-day Saints. He oversaw the 
construction of irrigation canals, helped organize a creamery co-operative, raised 
sugar beets, and invested in a butcher business and a packing plant. He also was 
involved in banking and real estate and served as president of both the Cardston Oil 
and Gas Society and the Cardston Agricultural Society.

Noted for his insight and numerous spiritual gifts, including on occasion the 
gift of prophecy, he strengthened the farmers’ faith in themselves and their trust in 
God’s help to meet the many challenges of pioneer life.19

▶ The Cardston Alberta 
Temple presidency in 1943. 
Left to right: J. Y. Card, coun-
selor; E. J. Wood, president; 
and Z. W. Jacobs, counselor. 
(Glenbow Archives NC-7-694)
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The Great Depression
The Great Depression of 1929 to 1939 created hardships in 
both the urban and rural areas of North America. In the 
urban centres of Alberta, many people lost their jobs or 
faced business reversals. In the rural areas, farmers faced 
several years of drought, hordes of grasshoppers, and exces-
sively low prices for grain and other agricultural products.

In response to the challenges the Saints were experienc-
ing everywhere, the First Presidency instituted the welfare 
program of the Church in 1936. Its purpose was to help 
alleviate suffering while encouraging work and self-reliance. 
Church members who needed assistance were expected, if 
possible, to work for what they received, and Saints who 
were better off were invited to contribute to help others.20

Regarding the implementation of the welfare program, 
Asael E. Palmer, president of the Lethbridge Stake, reported 
that Church members who had mortgages or debts to pay 
for their machinery found it “difficult or impossible to meet 
their obligations. A good number were unable to earn the 
necessities of life and could not subsist without assistance.”21

The Church, through the newly inaugurated welfare 
program, gave small loans to farmers who needed to relo-
cate to land under irrigation. For example, eight families 
who moved to Rosemary were given assistance to sustain 
them until harvest. Most were able to repay the loans and, in 
turn, strengthen the Rosemary Ward.22 In the Alberta Stake, 
the Church restructured mortgage contracts on the farm 
and ranch parcels that once had been part of the Church-
owned Cochrane Ranch. This eased the burden on land-
owners, and most were able to honour the contracts and 
repay the loans. For those who defaulted on their payments, 
the Church honoured its business obligations to the Bank of 
Montreal, which held the accounts, and paid off the loans. 
As local historian John R. Hicken states, “Many people suf-
fered greatly trying to balance budgets in the late 20s and 
throughout the Depression. And in this case, the Church 
eased the burden with a bail out, helping many directly and 
indirectly while preserving the Church’s reputation.”23

Assistance came in the form of inspired counsel as 
well as monetary aid. E. J. Wood, president of the Alberta 
Stake, spoke in a priesthood meeting in 1936 during the 
severe drought, prophesying that if the Saints were faith-
ful, they would reap a miraculous harvest. However, the 
drought continued. No rains came, and warm winds blew. 
Many people expressed doubt in the prophecy, saying, “The 
President has missed it this time. He was too anxious, we 
are near the end; the God of Heaven has forsaken us. The 
crop is beyond recovery and no harvest is in the offing.” At 
harvest time, people had low expectations. But, to their 
surprise, the heads of grain were filled out, and crop yield 
averaged twenty bushels per acre. One witness to the event 
wrote, “We exclaimed, ‘The prophecy has been fulfilled! 
What seemed impossible has become a reality! How did 
it happen?’ The only analysis that seemed possible to us 
was that though the days were warm, the nights were cool 
and heavy dew fell, but no mortal had the ability to pre-
dict it. The President rose from a seeming failure to the full 
strength of the Lord’s divinely appointed servant, and there 
in the minds of most of his followers he will remain.”24

The Church focused on the Saints’ spiritual needs 
as well as their temporal needs. Temple attendance was 
encouraged, although it was difficult for those living out-
side Cardston, many of whom did not have cars, to travel 
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to the temple regularly.25 Occasionally, out-
lying wards chartered vehicles and hosted 
temple excursions. In Aetna, Harold Jensen, 
owner of the only licensed motor vehi-
cle in the town, provided transportation 
to the temple every Thursday for a fee of 
twenty-five cents.

Throughout this period, temple patrons 
from Oregon and Washington, a part of 
the Cardston Temple district, organized a 
temple caravan each summer, bringing sev-
eral hundred Saints at a time. The caravans 
continued until the Idaho Falls Temple 
was dedicated in 1945 and the Northwest-
ern States Mission became part of the new 
temple district.26

Despite the difficulties of the Depres-
sion, conditions in the irrigated areas of 
southern Alberta were not as bad as those 
in Saskatchewan and Manitoba. Because 
of the availability of water, the Lethbridge 
Stake had a bumper crop of potatoes, 
onions, cabbages, turnips, and other pro-
duce in 1934. Realizing how richly the 
Saints had been blessed, the high priests 
quorum inaugurated an initiative to assist 
the farmers of southern Saskatchewan. 
Under the direction of Asael Palmer, pres-
ident of the Lethbridge Stake, centres were 
set up in each ward where members could 
drop off cash and produce. Because of the 
stake’s efforts, many non-Mormon farmers 
began dropping off produce at the centres 
as well, and the United Church of Canada, 
working with the Lethbridge Stake, orga-
nized the relief effort. Two boxcars of pro-
duce were shipped by rail to Regina and 
then redistributed to communities across 
southern Saskatchewan. In a humanitar-
ian gesture reflecting the gravity of the 
times, officials of the Canadian Pacific Rail-
way waived shipping charges. The boxcars, 
arriving just before and after Christmas, 
were a timely blessing, not only to mem-
bers of the Church but also to others who 
stood in need.27

Although the welfare plan provided 
great benefits, some local wards and 
branches could not be saved. The struggling 

Starline Ward, twenty kilometres east of 
Claresholm, was discontinued in 1934. The 
Frankburg Ward, located about eighty kilo-
metres south of Calgary, had at one time 
a membership of four hundred, and in 
1929 it was still a thriving ward with thirty 
prosperous families. However, prolonged 
drought and low grain prices caused all but 
three families to lose their farms and move 
away. As a result, the Frankburg Ward was 
discontinued in 1937.28

Welfare projects continued in many of 
the wards in southern Alberta. In 1939 in 
Barnwell, 160 acres of wheat were desig-
nated for welfare purposes, while in Leth-
bridge, Picture Butte, and Taber, land was 
set aside for sugar beets and other crops for 
welfare uses. During the 1930s, Taber began 
a welfare cannery for the Lethbridge Stake, 
with various wards and branches supply-
ing labour during the canning seasons.29 
A major canning and food-distribution 
centre was developed by Church members 
in Lethbridge, helping to serve the needs of 
the entire province.30

Tithing was often paid “in kind” due to 
a scarcity of money. Members brought 
to the tithing house their tithes in the form 
of hay, grain, eggs, milk, chickens, or what-
ever they produced. The local bishops then 
dispensed the surplus.31 It was the Lord’s 

◀ Irrigation canal and 
spillway near Raymond. 
Like arteries that carry 
life-sustaining fluids through 
the body, irrigation canals 
carry water—lifeblood to the 
arid soil—through the thirteen 
irrigation districts in southern 
Alberta. The canal systems are 
an integral part of the history 
of the region, from Magrath 
to Rosemary to Medicine Hat. 
Water is the essential resource 
that has allowed and contin-
ues to allow the area to thrive. 
(Darrel Nelson)

▶ Once a flourishing commu-
nity, Frankburg today consists 
mainly of this sign marking 
the cemetery. At one point the 
Frankburg Ward had a popu-
lation of four hundred, but the 
years of drought in the 1930s 
forced most families to move 
away, causing the closure of 
the ward in 1937. (Darrel 
Nelson)
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way of providing for the poor and needy, and it taught the 
Saints to care for one another.

Political and Other Contributions
Members of the Church in southern Alberta continued to 
make their influence felt during the Depression, not only in 
their communities but also on the provincial level. In 1935, 
four Church members from southern Alberta were elected 
as Members of the Legislative Assembly (MLAs) when the 

Social Credit Party of Alberta swept to power. The party’s 
basic premise that all citizens had the right to the wealth 
they jointly produced was especially attractive to farm-
ers who were struggling during the Depression. Based on 
conservative Christian and economic principles, the party 
appealed to the populace in general and to many Mormons 
in particular. And once elected, the party upheld its elec-
tion promise of allowing more democratic control of the 
government and enacted a law restricting the sale of alco-
hol. The government also passed stronger labour legislation 
and centralized the province’s school system.33

Two of the Latter-day Saints from southern Alberta who 
were elected to the provincial legislature, N. Eldon Tanner 

and Solon Low, were appointed to provincial cabinet posi-
tions and moved their families to Edmonton. Tanner served 
seventeen years in the Legislative Assembly, first as Speaker of 
the House, then as Minister of Lands and Forests and Minis-
ter of Mines and Minerals. He would one day become a sig-
nificant Church leader, serving as a member of the Quorum 
of the Twelve and the First Presidency. Solon Low became 
provincial treasurer under Premier William Aberhart in 1937. 
Seven years later, Low became the national leader of the Social 

Credit Association of Canada, and in 1945 he was elected to 
the House of Commons, where he served for thirteen years.

Besides service in the political arena, Church members 
in southern Alberta have made significant contributions 
in other areas as well. The influence of Asael E. Palmer on 
agriculture in southern Alberta is an example. His pioneer 
work in dry farming opened up large tracts of land other-
wise regarded as unsuitable for cultivation.

In time, the Great Depression ended. The rains came, the 
economy rebounded, and people began picking up the pieces 
and trying to rebuild their lives. But before the decade was 
through, dark clouds appeared on the horizon once more—
only these were not the clouds of dust and wind. These were 

Thank You, Raymond, for a Miracle Christmas
A story from 1938, by Don Petrak

A touching example of care and compassion is told by Don Petrak, who as a young lad of seven moved with his 
non-LDS family to Raymond. The drought had taken their family farm in Saskatchewan, and so, penniless and des-
titute, they migrated to southern Alberta in hopes of finding the “land of promise.”

“December 24, 1938, in Raymond was a beautiful day, with hardly any snow and a beautiful Chinook blowing. . . . 
I was just seven then, and all fall I had this horrendous earache. Finally about noon on the 24th Mother marched 
downtown to Cope’s Drug Store to pick something up that might help my ear. She explained to Percy Cope what 
she needed and her lack of funds with which to pay for it. Percy listened sympathetically and then gave her the 
medicine and a bag of candy for us kids. This was to be ‘it’ as far as a Petrak Christmas was concerned.

“About two o’clock there was a loud pounding on the door. Out of curiosity I accompanied my mother to the 
door. When she opened it I saw the biggest man I had ever seen in my life. . . . ‘I’ve got a load of coal here, where 
do you want it?’ he asked.

“The Christmas miracle of 1938 . . . had begun. . . . After that, it was unbelievable, people coming and going from 
out of the front door all afternoon, all evening, and well into the night—people with gifts, with turkeys, with canned 
goods, with candies, nuts, apples, and oranges. . . . Two delivery wagons came with their well-known trotting horses 
from the Mercantile and Stone’s with groceries galore. Later a choral group of young men and women came in, 
shouted, ‘Merry Christmas,’ and proceeded to set up and decorate a tree for us, our very first Christmas tree and 
it was lit with real candles! . . . Mother just stood there in shock and disbelief, taking it all in with a gratitude in her 
eyes such as I had never seen before.

“This amazing Christmas Eve continued well into the night, and then suddenly about 11:30 p.m. there was a 
merry, ‘Ho, Ho, Ho,’ and then Santa Claus appeared right at our front door! . . . What a beautiful Christmas, what 
a wonderful miracle it was.”32
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the clouds of war. And once again, southern 
Albertans prepared to face a new adversity, 
one that would claim  more lives, do more 
damage, and affect more people worldwide 
than any war in history.

WORLD WAR II AND THE 
POSTWAR ERA, 1939–70
On 1 September 1939, Germany invaded 
Poland. Two days later, France and the 

United Kingdom declared war on Germany, 
and Canada followed seven days later. The 
world would never be the same again.

▶ Born in Cardston in 1900, 
Solon Earl Low was a farmer, 
schoolteacher, and principal 
before entering politics and 
being elected an MLA in 
1935. In 1944, he became the 
first national leader of the 
Social Credit Association, and 
in 1945 he was elected to the 
House of Commons, where he 
served as a Social Credit MP 
for thirteen years. He is one 
of only five members of the 
Church to serve as a Member 
of Parliament in Ottawa. 
(Galt Museum)

Asael E. Palmer
Asael Exile Palmer was born in Salt 
Lake City, Utah, in 1888. His family 
moved to Alberta in 1903 and home-
steaded near Raymond. In 1909, he 
and his half brother, Wilford, filed 
for a homestead near present-day 
Turin. After receiving a bachelor of 
science degree in crops and soils at 
Utah State Agricultural College and 
a second bachelor of science degree 
from the University of Alberta, he 
was appointed assistant superinten-
dent of the Lethbridge Experimental 
Station in 1921. He became super-
intendent in 1945. As a specialist 
in dryland farming, he wrote many 
articles and books on irrigation, soil 
erosion, and water conservation. He 
changed farming procedures forever 
by convincing farmers to leave the 
stubble in the field to reduce soil 
erosion. He also encouraged strip 
farming and basin listing (the con-
struction of small dams at intervals 
across furrows to form basins to col-
lect rainwater and slow runoff). He 
devised experiments to determine 
the best irrigation practices and how 
to achieve maximum benefit from 
available water.34 In 1973, he was 
inducted into the Alberta Agricul-
tural Hall of Fame.

During most of his years at the 
research station, he was in the pres-
idency of the Lethbridge Stake, as 
second counselor to Hugh B. Brown 
from 1923 to 1926 and as stake pres-
ident from 1926 to 1947, a period of 
more than twenty years. In 1966–67, 
he chaired a committee of the Leth-
bridge Stake to compile a history of 
the Church in Canada, which was 
published as a Canadian Centennial 
project in 1968.35

▶ Asael E. Palmer made a 
significant contribution to 
Canadian agriculture. (Galt 
Museum)



222       CANADIAN MORMONS

The War Effort
Although far from the battlefields of Europe, the commu-
nities in southern Alberta contributed significantly to the 
war effort during World War II. The First Artillery called up 
in southern Alberta included several Latter-day Saint men. 
And as others enlisted and the Honour Roll increased daily, 
the province’s enlistment rates rose to become some of the 
highest in Canada. In the Lethbridge Alberta Stake, some 
399 served in the Armed Forces, nineteen of whom were 
killed in action.36 But volunteers and enlistees came from 
every stake and community, and there was not a congre-
gation in southern Alberta that was not affected by the war, 
especially when it involved the loss of those who paid the 
ultimate sacrifice.

Many of the 77,000-plus Albertans who enrolled in the 
armed forces lost their lives or were wounded in the defense 

of their country. War monuments now stand in communi-
ties across the province to honour them. But throughout 
the war years, there were also instances of soldiers’ lives 
being miraculously spared. (Please see sidebar for two sol-
diers’ stories.) In the words of another southern Alberta 
soldier, William Redd, “It would be a significant omission 
not to include a statement of thanks for Divine protection 
[during the] war.”37

Mormon enlistees were issued pocket-sized editions of 
the Book of Mormon. Owen “Brownie” Witbeck, a member 
of the Church who served in the infantry, said that he relied 
on the book being in his front shirt pocket throughout the 
war. He was basically the only member of the Church in 
his platoon, so it was a special treat to attend Church meet-
ings or occasionally to come across other members of the 
Church from southern Alberta.40

Back at home, rationing, war coupons, blackouts, mock 
air raids, and many other factors affected everyone, espe-
cially the dreaded letters notifying families of the death of 

Two Stories of Soldiers Whose Lives 
Were Spared
Reva Heggie relates the story of her brother, Eldon 
Garner, who joined the Canadian Army as a member 
of the tank corps. One day in Brussels, his tank was 
shot and disabled by a German tank. In Canadian 
tank training, Garner had been taught that “it took 
the German tanks twelve seconds to reload.” He said, 
“It is surprising how fast you can move at a time like 
that. Quickly, all the men got out. The German tank 
fired again and demolished the Canadian tank. The 
German commander could have machine-gunned 
them all, but he poked his head out of his tank, 
tipped his cap, saluted, and drove away.”38

Ronald Watson, a member of the 6th Light 
Anti-Aircraft Regiment, also acknowledged divine 
protection. On one occasion he was walking toward 
a building in Cannes, France, mindful of the fact that 
land mines might be in the area. He said, “I was just 
going to take a step when I saw a trip wire in the 
brush. I looked around and saw the mine. It had 
been raining a lot and the edges of the mine had all 
been washed off. When a regular mine check was 
done they picked up 54 mines around that build-
ing! If I had completed that step I would have been 
blown up and half the country with me. I thank the 
Lord for stopping me from taking that step.”39
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a loved one. The shelves in local grocery 
stores frequently had empty spaces as cer-
tain goods became unavailable. Church 
members and nonmembers alike learned 
to tighten their belts and adjust to the war-
time conditions.41

Mormon communities gave full sup-
port to the war effort. Women in the local 
Red Cross branches donated countless 
hours of sewing and knitting for the men 
and women in the military. In 1943 in Ray-
mond, for example, a total of 2,523 knitted 
items and bedding were forwarded to the 
Red Cross headquarters.42

In early 1942, the First Presidency 
issued a letter instructing stake leaders to 
reduce travel throughout the stake to save 
rubber, gasoline, oil, and money for the war 
effort. As a result, high council visits to out-
lying wards and branches were discontin-
ued.43 This increased the responsibilities of 
ward and branch leaders to watch over their 
congregations in order to meet the rising 
needs of those most affected by rationing 
and shortages of food and other necessities.

Missionary work was curtailed world-
wide during World War II because so many 
young men were in the military. This cre-
ated a serious shortage of missionaries in 
many areas of Canada. In response to this 
need, a number of short-term missionaries 
from southern Alberta were appointed and 
sent to neighbouring provinces.

Regarding the progress of the war and 
Canada’s involvement in it, Bob Zobell, 
a member of the Church and commis-
sioned officer in the Canadian Air Force, 
sent a letter home from Malta, dated May 
1943. He wrote, “The end of the scrap is 
now in sight though it may well be a year 
or two, possibly more, before it is all over. 
If you could see all that Canada has done, 
and all the Canadians—well, it would 
make you so proud. Everywhere we are 
known—the English pilots who trained 
in Canada speak very highly of Canadian 
hospitality and all want to go back. So you 
see we all feel so glad that the people back 
home are all behind us 100 percent. We 

can’t and won’t lose. God Bless and pro-
tect you all.”45

A story related by Teddy A. Witbeck, a 
member of the Church and a dispatch rider 
in the Canadian Army, illustrates the kind-
ness and generosity that sometime accom-
panied the harshness and deprivation of 

◀ Representative of war 
memorials across southern 
Alberta, the Lethbridge War 
Memorial was originally 
constructed in memory of the 
157 men from Lethbridge and 
the Lethbridge area who died 
during World War I. Built in 
1931, the memorial has since 
been expanded to include 
those who fell in World War 
II, the Korean conflict, and 
as modern-day peacekeepers. 
(Darrel Nelson)

Short-Term Mission of 
C. Lester Lybbert
Merlin R. Lybbert, former Seventy 
and president of the Cardston 
Alberta Temple from 1994 to 1997, 
tells of a call that came to his father, 
C. Lester Lybbert, while the family 
was living in Glenwood. He records:

“In the late fall of 1944, Presi-
dent Edward J. Wood called several 
seventies from the Alberta Stake 
on short-term missions for the pur-
pose  of helping to replenish the 
ranks of  full-time missionaries who 
were unavailable because of the war. 
Our situation at home at the time 
was rather bleak [but Dad answered 
the call]. He hitchhiked to Calgary 
and ran into blizzard conditions, 
which prevented his continuing that 
uncertain method of transportation. 
Because he was virtually without 
funds, he sold his favorite straight 
razor to a barber for a few dollars 
and bought a bus ticket to Edmon-
ton. There he was assigned to the 
Saskatoon Branch, where he labored 
with the First Nations people who 
were living in the area. During his 
missionary service, he assisted in the 
conversion of Karen Aaronson, who 
became a stalwart member of the 
Church. Dad served in Regina where 
he completed his missionary service. 
In addition to the direct good he did 
in that labor, perhaps the most vivid 
and longest lasting effect of the 
labor was the example that he set 
for his family. It is one thing to talk 
about sacrifice—it’s another thing to 
perform it.”44

 Called to serve a short-term 
mission in the Western States 
Mission, C. Lester Lybbert 
departed from Glenwood in 
the dead of winter, leaving his 
wife and children to milk the 
small herd of Guernsey cows 
and ship the milk to the cheese 
factory, as well as bake pies 
for the local restaurant. Diffi-
cult though the time was, the 
family managed and Lester 
returned in time to help his 
son, Merlin, prepare to leave 
on a full-time mission a few 
months later. (Orva Smith)
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war. He said, “One time [in Holland] we were quartered 
in a schoolyard and a temporary kitchen was set up. We 
had been there for about a day or so when I spotted a little 
boy, maybe five or six years old, watching us eat. I walked 
over to the fence with my mess tin full of food. I couldn’t 
speak Dutch and he couldn’t speak English. So I used hand 
signals to ask him if he wanted some food. He understood 
what I was saying and nodded yes. I used my bayonet to dig 
a hole under the fence and passed my mess tin through the 
hole. He grabbed the mess tin and ran off. I figured that was 
the last of my mess tin. But a few minutes later he was back 
with my mess tin. For the remainder of the time we were 
there I would fill both my mess tins and give them to the 
little boy. I believe he took them home to feed his family. 
The Dutch people were literally starving at the time.”46

Treatment of Japanese Canadians
Members of the Church showed compassion and neigh-
bourliness in other ways as well. In his article “The Mor-
mons and Their Japanese Neighbours,” David B. Iwaasa 
wrote that “many Mormons played important roles in the 
Japanese-Canadians coming to southern Alberta at a time 
when the vast majority of other communities in Canada 
refused to accept them.”47 When the Canadian government 

decided on a mass evacuation of all Japanese Canadians 
from the west coast for national security reasons, a delega-
tion representing the Alberta Sugar Beet Growers Associa-
tion—who also happened to be members of the Church—
sent a proposal regarding the Japanese Canadians coming 
to southern Alberta to work in the sugar beet fields. This 
stirred up controversy because many Canadians felt it 
increased security threats and was nothing more than an 
attempt to acquire cheap labour.48

Some Japanese Canadians themselves were agreeable to 
the idea, however, because it gave them a chance to start over 
and remain intact as family units. Groups began arriving in 
southern Alberta in April 1942, and by the end of June the 
numbers had reached 2,250, or about 370 families. Things 
did not get off to a great start, however. Because previous 
sugar beet labourers had been of the transient nature, work-
ers’ living quarters were poorly built and unsuitable for the 
harsh prairie winters. The evacuees faced other challenges as 
well. Water supplies and medical facilities were inadequate, 
and there was a lack of proximity to friends and neighbours. 
Work opportunities were limited, which meant the evacuees 
could not supplement their income to improve their stan-
dard of living. Fortunately many of these issues were resolved 
by 1943, when the next wave of evacuees began to arrive.49
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Regarding their Mormon neighbours, 
Iwaasa wrote, “As individuals and as neigh-
bours living nearby, the Mormons fare 
quite positively. As the record clearly indi-
cates, many individual Mormons . . . led the 
way in encouraging the early movement of 
Japanese workers into the sugar beet indus-
try, . . . and the number of instances where 
prominent Mormons were asked to assist 
and represent the interests of the early Jap-
anese residents (e.g. conducting marriages 
[and] helping with land transactions  .  .  .) 
would indicate that they had the respect of 
the Japanese.”50

“With Mormons as their neighbours, 
many Japanese-Canadians chose to remain 
in southern Alberta after the conclusion of 
World War Two and the rescinding of dis-
criminatory war measures.”51 As a result of 
their association with local members, several 
Japanese Canadians joined the Church.52

Church Growth during the War 
and in the Postwar Era
Despite the negatives associated with the 
war, it had a positive effect on the economy 
of southern Alberta. One stimulus was the 

rapid construction of airbases.57 Communi-
ties such as Fort Macleod, Claresholm, and 
Vulcan were selected as Air Force training 
sites, and new facilities and factories had to 
be built quickly to accommodate the grow-
ing demands. Another stimulus was ongo-
ing improvements in farm mechanization, 
which meant that fewer farm labourers 
were required. Both factors contributed sig-
nificantly to the movement of people from 
rural areas to urban centres. In southern 
Alberta, thirty-three of thirty-five towns 
experienced growth from 1941 to 1951. 
Bow Island, Coaldale, Taber, and Nobleford 
all more than doubled their populations. 
Medicine Hat grew by more than five thou-
sand people, and by 1953 the population of 
Lethbridge increased by more than 12,000 
to become 26,986.58

The urban movement affected the 
Church in southern Alberta as the three 

stakes experienced growth, which con-
tinued even after the war ended. By 1950, 
Cardston and Raymond each had four 
wards, while Magrath, Lethbridge, and Cal-
gary each had two.59 Wards and branches in 

◀ The Takeyasu family, at 
work in the fields topping 
sugar beets on their farm near 
Picture Butte, smile for the 
camera, but the work was 
long and hard. Acceptance 
and respect extended by local 
Latter-day Saints to the new 
immigrants resulted in many 
Japanese Canadians choosing 
to remain and raise their 
families in southern Alberta. 
(Galt Museum)

Henry Kojun Iwaasa
Although Mormons made up the majority in the towns they settled, people of all 
faiths came to homestead or ranch in southern Alberta. Others came in groups 
from Japan and elsewhere to work in the sugar beet fields. Mennonites, Hutterites, 
and First Nations people also lived close by. A small number of Japanese settled in 
the Raymond area, beginning in 1908.53 One of these was Henry Kojun Iwaasa, who 
eventually joined the Church because of his favourable interaction with Latter-day 
Saints. Born in Japan in 1882, Iwaasa came to Canada at the age of sixteen. He 
travelled around much of North America, working in the sugar beet fields and on 
railway construction, before finally settling in Raymond in 1910.54 He became a 
prominent leader in the Japanese community and in the Raymond Buddhist church. 
Because of the positive influence of local members of the Church, he read the 
Book of Mormon and was baptized in 1941. This was a brave decision because he 
found himself somewhat ostracized from the Japanese Canadian community, many 
of whom felt he had abandoned his own people.55 The consequence of his deci-
sion, however, brought generations of his family into The Church of Jesus Christ of 
Latter-day Saints. Henry passed away in 1968, but his legacy continues. His grand-
son David Iwaasa went on a mission to Japan and later served as mission president 
of the Japan Fukuoka Mission from 2006 to 2009.56

 It was a long journey in the 
early 1900s from his native 
Kobe, Japan, to the commu-
nity of Raymond, Alberta. 
Henry eventually adopted 
Canadian citizenship and 
became a farmer and land-
owner. His conversion to the 
Mormon faith was a decision 
that brought generations of 
his family into the Church. 
(David Iwaasa)
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the smaller communities were maintained where possible, 
but due to a decreasing rural population, some units were 
dissolved. In the Alberta Stake, for example, the Jefferson 
Branch was amalgamated with the Taylorville Ward in 1963. 
The following year, the Taylorville Ward was discontinued 
and amalgamated with the Aetna Ward. Further changes 
occurred when the Aetna Ward was transferred into Card-
ston in 1971 but retained its name.60

New stakes were created. The first new stake in Alberta, 
the Lethbridge Alberta East Stake, was created on 28 Octo-
ber 1951, with Grant G. Woolley as president, raising the 
total number of stakes in southern Alberta to four. But the 
stake was dissolved two years later when the Calgary Stake 
was organized, taking many of the northern units with it.61 
The reunited Lethbridge Stake, with Grant G. Wooley as 
president, now consisted of units in Lethbridge and local 

communities as far west as Claresholm, as far north as 
Champion, and as far east as Medicine Hat.62

Nine years later, on 11 September 1960, the Taber 
Alberta Stake was created, with Ray B. Evanson as president. 
Some wards were transferred to the newly formed stake, 
and units in several smaller communities were discontin-
ued. The Taber Stake consisted of eight units from Barnwell 
to Medicine Hat.63

Growth of the Church continued in many southern 
Alberta communities. By the end of the 1960s there were six 
wards in Lethbridge, five in Cardston, four in Raymond, and 
two each in Magrath and Taber. Also, wards and branches 
spanned the length and breadth of southern Alberta from 
the Crowsnest Pass in the west to Medicine Hat in the east; 
from Rosemary and Claresholm in the north to Coutts in 
the south.
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Temple Attendance and 
Dedication of Addition
As might be expected, attendance at the 
Cardston Alberta Temple improved follow-
ing the war. Under the direction of the new 
temple president, Willard L. Smith, youth 
were encouraged to come to the temple by 
establishing a designated time for youth 
to “drop in” to do baptisms. The number of 
baptisms for the dead rose and endowment 
sessions were increased. In 1948 an exten-
sive renovation plan was implemented that 
included improvements to the exterior 
and interior of the temple to facilitate the 
increased use.64

The youth program, which proved 
highly effective, continued in the years that 
followed, and youth participation remained 
high. As of 2015, youth were making signif-
icant contributions in family history work, 
including indexing, and were putting their 
computer and technology skills to good 
use. The Spirit of Elijah truly rested upon 
the rising generation.65

A new addition to the Cardston Alberta 
Temple was made necessary by an increase 
in attendance. On 2 July 1962, Hugh B. 
Brown of the First Presidency presided at 
the dedicatory service. In the dedicatory 
prayer he said, “We thank Thee that this 
great land welcomed the Latter-day Saints 

who came here seventy-five years ago. We 
thank Thee for the work that the Latter-day 
Saints have done in Canada, and on behalf 
of the Canadians we thank Thee for the con-
tribution of the Mormon people. We thank 
Thee, Heavenly Father, as members of the 
Church for the changing attitudes of the 
people of this land and of the United States 
and all over the world toward the Church. 
We thank Thee that great men have been 
raised up in various lands to defend Thy 
people and proclaim the truth.”66 Attended 
by over seven hundred Church members, 
the rededication truly was a day of cele-
bration and reflection on the blessings of 
having a temple in southern Alberta.

THE SOUTHERN ALBERTA 
CHURCH 1970–2015

The Multiplication of Stakes
The Lethbridge Alberta East Stake, orig-
inally created in 1951 but dissolved two 
years later when the Calgary Alberta Stake 
was formed, was reorganized on 24 Novem-
ber 1974, with Bryce C. Stringham as pres-
ident. It included wards in Lethbridge and 
in communities as far north as Champion. 
In time the configuration changed, and 
as of 2015 the stake had eight units: four 
wards in Lethbridge, two in Stirling, and 

◀ The presidency of the Leth-
bridge Stake and the high 
council, 1944. Front, left to 
right: Francis Russell (first 
counselor), Asael Palmer 
(stake president), Reed Ellison 
(second counselor), and Owen 
Steed (stake clerk). Middle 
row, left to right: William Rus-
sell, David Elton, Ivan Harris, 
John Johannessen, Brother 
Sabey, Charles Asplund. Back, 
left to right: Art Green, Ted 
Francis, Brother Norton, 
Ernest Bennion, Brother 
Johannessen, Brother White-
head. David Elton became the 
first LDS mayor of Lethbridge 
(1935–1943). (O. William 
Asplund)

▶ Continuing the gently 
upward trend of the 1920s, 
LDS population in southern 
Alberta continued to increase 
during the 1930s despite 
some setbacks from year to 
year. After World War II, the 
larger cities in Alberta grew 
rapidly, and even though LDS 
population growth remained 
steady in southern Alberta, 
the major LDS population 
growth in Alberta coincided 
with the growth of population 
in the bigger cities. Note: the 
unusual spikes in the late 
1940s are due to anomalies in 
the reporting system and not 
reflective of actual growth.
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one each in Coaldale and Coutts. Several 
of the smaller rural units that used to lie 
within its boundaries were dissolved.67

The Magrath Alberta Stake was created 
on 26 October 1980, with James D. Bridge, 
a resident of Raymond, as president. This 
necessitated moving three wards from Ray-
mond into the new stake to give it sufficient 
numbers. In that historic stake conference, 
Elder L. Tom Perry of the Quorum of Twelve 
Apostles said that he had been sent to create 
the Raymond East and the Raymond West 
Stakes but felt impressed that Magrath should 
have its own stake. He also indicated that it 
would not be many years until the three Ray-
mond wards were returned to the Raymond 
Alberta Stake.68 Seventeen years would pass 
before this became a reality. The Magrath 
Alberta Stake in 2015 consisted of seven 
wards in Magrath, a ward in Welling, and 
branches in Spring Coulee and Del Bonita.69

As membership continued to increase 
in southern Alberta, the Cardston Alberta 
West Stake was created on 13 November 
1983, with Brent L. Nielson as president. 
Like Raymond and Lethbridge, this sepa-
rated the community down the middle, but 

it was deemed necessary to accommodate 
and facilitate growth. The Cardston Alberta 
Stake in 2015 consisted of nine units: five 
wards in Cardston, including the Cardston 
YSA Ward and the Aetna Ward; with one 
ward each in Glenwood and Hill Spring, as 
well as the Kainai (Blood Nation reserve) 
and Lee Crest (Care Centre) Branches.70 
In 2015, the Cardston Alberta West Stake 
consisted of eight units: five wards in 
Cardston, one ward each in Leavitt and 
Mountain View, and a branch in Waterton 
Lakes Park.71 Brian Low, president of the 
Cardston Alberta West Stake, indicated 
in 2015 that the branch in Waterton oper-
ates only from the long weekend in May to 
about mid-September. Yet during the peak 
summer months, it can have over six hun-
dred in attendance. On those occasions the 
chapel and every classroom is filled, plus 
the sound is piped outside to accommo-
date the overflow.72

The Fort Macleod Alberta Stake was 
organized on 29 September 1985, with 
Heber J. Beazer as its first president. As 
of 2015, it consisted of seven units: two 
wards in Fort Macleod, one in Claresholm, 
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 The LDS meetinghouse in 
Claresholm, located in the 
Fort Macleod Stake, was built 
in 1954 and went through a 
series of major renovations 
to become the building it is 
today. (Darrel Nelson)
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one in Pincher Creek, and one in Park 
Lake Ward, plus the Pass Branch in the 
Crowsnest Pass.73 The Park Lake Ward had 
been formed in 2009 to include the Dia-
mond  Ward and the discontinued Picture 
Butte Ward. The Brocket Branch in the 
Piikani Nation reserve had been amalgam-
ated with the Pincher Creek Ward in 2005.74

The Medicine Hat Alberta Stake was 
created on 20 November 1994, with Robert 
A. Gehmlich as president, raising the total 
number of stakes in southern Alberta to 
nine. Medicine Hat had experienced steady 
growth, with the creation of new wards, 
enabling it to become a stake on its own. As 
of 2015, the Medicine Hat Stake consisted 
of nine units: five wards and a YSA branch 
in Medicine Hat and one ward each in Bow 
Island, Brooks, and Rosemary.75

The creation of the tenth stake in south-
ern Alberta, the Lethbridge Alberta West 
Stake, on 26 October 1997, with David P. 
Koegler as president, was accomplished by 
adjusting four existing stakes to make five. 
Because growth had occurred in Magrath, 
it had enough units to form a stake without 
the three Raymond wards. Accordingly, the 
three wards were moved back to Raymond. 
The Raymond Alberta Stake then con-
sisted of the seven wards within the town, 
although that number would increase to 
nine by 2015. Stirling, Wrentham, Foremost, 
and Coutts were moved to the Lethbridge 
Alberta East Stake. The Lethbridge Alberta 
West Stake started out with five units but 
experienced rapid growth and doubled in 
size by 2015, when there were three young 
single adult wards in the stake.76

When Henry B. Eyring visited the Ray-
mond Alberta Stake in October 2000, he 
delivered a prophecy and parting coun-
sel that was relevant to the Saints in every 
community across southern Alberta. He 
encouraged Church members to avoid con-
tention, to choose not to be offended by 
others, and to heal existing ill feelings with 
forgiveness and goodwill. He advised the 
Saints to be welcoming and loving to others 
in the community who were not Church 

members, whether or not those neighbours 
chose to join the Church. By maintaining 
friendly relationships with all, LDS mem-
bers would foster an environment of posi-
tive feelings toward the Church. Although 
Latter-day Saints “might not always be 
in the majority here as we are now,” he 
said, “we will be benefitted if the majority 
of the community remains friendly toward 
the Church. . . . The best days are still ahead 
for this community. More and more people 
will feel the sweetness of the gospel and of 
associations together here.”77

It was remarkable to see how then-Elder 
Eyring’s prophecy continued to be fulfilled. 

“More and more people” aligned themselves 
with the Church, and it continued to flour-
ish. By 2015, with ten stakes in southern 
Alberta, comprising seventy-nine wards 
and branches, the work continued.78

First Nations
Since the time of the Saints’ arrival in 
southern Alberta, the First Nations people 
have been regarded as “part of a dispersed 
Israel.”79 Missionary work began among 
them soon after, but it was somewhat spo-
radic until 1949, when the Church began 
a more concerted effort. Twenty-six local 
missionaries were assigned to work on the 
Blood Nation reserve, and church meetings 
were held at different locations on the res-
ervation. First Nations members were orig-
inally part of the Cardston Fourth Ward, 
but, as their numbers increased, the Kainai 
Branch was created on the reservation in 
1964, with James Blackmore as branch pres-
ident. The work was later placed under the 
auspices of stake mission presidents, and 
missionary labours expanded to other res-
ervations in Alberta.80

The Church gave particular emphasis to 
First Nations youth in the latter half of the 
twentieth century through the Lamanite 
Student Placement Program. Spencer  W. 
Kimball, Church President from 1973 to 
1985, was a strong advocate for Native 
Americans and, as a member of the Quorum 
of the Twelve, was involved in the beginning 

▶ The Kainai Indian Reserve 
No. 148, near Cardston, is the 
largest reserve in Canada and 
the second-most populous. 
Brent L. Lybbert, president of 
the Cardston Stake, expressed 
his belief that it was no acci-
dent that Cardston was estab-
lished adjacent to the reserve. 
Missionary work has contin-
ued, and the Kainai Branch 
consisted of ninety-five mem-
bers in 2015. (Darrel Nelson)
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of the program in 1947, in which some Latter-day Saint First 
Nations youth were placed in LDS foster homes during the 
school year to enable them to receive a better education. 
The program was described as “a new awakening on the part 
of members of the Church to the Lamanite and his prophetic 
destiny.”81 By the mid-1960s, there were about fifty youth 
from the Blood Tribe who had been placed in Latter-day 
Saint homes across Canada. The program was designed to 
help the students obtain a better education and to help them 
learn more about their LDS faith. According to a study in the 
US reported by James B. Allen, “The results, so far as the par-
ents were concerned, were overwhelmingly positive: 82 per-
cent reported a favourable effect on their families, and only 
13 percent reported any negative consequences. Religiosity 
improved, education benefited the children, and younger 
siblings profited from the experiences of their older brothers 
and sisters. When asked if they would place their child in 
the program if they had it to do over again, 88 percent of the 
natural parents said yes.”82 The Student Placement Program 
continued until 2000 and then was phased out.

Brent L. Lybbert, who became president of the Card-
ston Alberta Stake in 2011, indicated that the work was 
flowering among the local First Nations people. When he 
began to serve as stake president, the Kainai Branch had 
twenty-five active members.83 As he contemplated closing 
the branch and integrating it with one of the Cardston 
wards, the Spirit whispered to him, “These are also my 
people and you must do all you can to help save them.”84 
One evening, as he was looking through Go Forward with 
Faith, the biography of President Gordon B. Hinckley, he 
came across a photograph of President and Sister Hinck-
ley’s visit to Cardston at the time of temple rededication in 

June 1991. The photograph featured a member of the First 
Nations in full headdress, standing beside President and 
Sister Hinckley.85 As President Lybbert studied the photo-
graph, the Spirit whispered, “That is the man who is to be 
the next branch president.” Eventually, the man in the pho-
tograph—Garry Fox—was called as branch president, and 
under his strong leadership, along with that of his counsel-
ors, the Kainai Branch had grown to comprise ninety-five 
active members by 2015. The members were involved in 
doing temple work, and they had a high attendance rate. 
President Lybbert believed that it was not coincidence 
that the largest First Nations reserve in Canada is located 
directly beside Cardston.86

Renovations and Rededication of the Temple
Beginning in 1988, the Cardston Alberta Temple was 
closed for three years in order to undergo extensive reno-
vations. In the interim, southern Albertan Saints attended 
the Idaho Falls Temple. During the long drive south, mem-
bers were reminded how fortunate they were to have had 
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a temple in their midst since 1923.87 When at long last 
the renovations were completed in 1991, the temple was 
opened to the public. More than one hundred thousand 
people attended the open house, two-thirds of whom were 
not LDS. Eleven dedicatory services were held from 22 to 
24 June, with Gordon B. Hinckley and Thomas S. Monson 
(counselors in the First Presidency) and several Apostles 
and general Church officers in attendance. This was the 
third set of dedicatory services held at the temple in its 
sixty-eight-year history.88

In September 1995 the Cardston Alberta Temple 
was designated an historic site. At a ceremony held at the 
Temple Street Chapel, Bud Olsen, a member of the Cana-
dian Senate, unveiled a plaque and noted the temple had 
attained both architectural and national significance with 
the designation. He indicated that the designation was 
to “assist in the preservation of Canada’s distinctive  iden-
tity and national heritage .  .  . and to help Canadians iden-
tify and find their roots, adding a significance to daily life.”92 
The government recognized the temple as a building of 
“architectural and national significance,” but to the Saints it 
was and continues to be much more. It is the house of the 
Lord, a building of eternal significance, a structure that is 

“the great symbol” of Church membership.93
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Gathering
The influence of the temple continued to 
reach across southern Alberta, affecting 
lives in subtle and dramatic ways. During 
his visit to the Raymond Alberta Stake 
in 2000, Henry B. Eyring indicated that 
people would come to Raymond and the 
other neighbouring LDS communities but 
wouldn’t necessarily know why. Something 
inexplicable would draw them here.

In retrospect, it was noted that Ray-
mond, Stirling, and Magrath had expe-
rienced growth, as increasing numbers 
of both LDS members and nonmembers 
recognized the advantages of the rich, 
small-town community life for raising their 
families. The strong community culture, 
lower house prices, and easy commute to 
Lethbridge saved these communities from 
declining in a time when agriculture no 
longer employed large numbers of people. 
They, in fact, have become bedroom com-
munities of Lethbridge, which had grown 
to a city of ninety-three thousand by 2015.94

In Cardston, the pattern has been a 
little different, with growth more directly 
related to the town’s appeal as a retirement 
community for those wishing to serve in 

the temple. But it is more than housing 
opportunities, travel convenience, and 
small-town advantages that bring people 
to southern Alberta. Many newcomers 
have indicated they feel something spe-
cial—often described as a spirit of peace 
and community—that convinces them to 
stay and put down roots. They are sensing, 
in then-Elder Eyring’s words, the “sweet-
ness of the gospel” as the Church expands 
its focus of reaching out and touching lives 
in these challenging times.

Seminary, Institute, and Young 
Single Adult Wards
Religious education was important to the 
Saints in southern Alberta from the ear-
liest settlement period. By 1904, religion 
classes were part of the public school cur-
riculum in the Alberta Stake. By 1944, the 
seminary program was in operation in each 
high school in the Taylor Stake. Released-
time seminary was introduced in Cardston 
and Raymond in May 1948, and by the 
following year, the program had expanded 
to Magrath, Welling, Glenwood, and Hill-
spring. A seminary building was erected 
in Lethbridge in 1957 as an early-morning 

◀ After a period of three 
years, when the Cardston 
Alberta Temple was closed for 
extensive renovations, an esti-
mated twenty-five thousand 
Church members attended the 
twelve dedicatory sessions of 
the Cardston Alberta Temple 
on 22–24 June 1991.89 (Mike 
Cannon, Church News)

◀ Gordon B. Hinckley and 
Thomas S. Monson, coun-
selors to Church President 
Ezra Taft Benson, attended 
the dedicatory services of the 
Cardston Alberta Temple in 
June 1991. While they were in 
Cardston, President Hinckley 
celebrated his eighty-first 
birthday.91 (Mike Cannon, 
Church News)

▶ Two elderly sisters, Elizabeth 
Broadbent Smith (right) and 
Dora Broadbent Leavitt (left), 
attended the rededication of 
the Cardston Alberta Temple 
in June 1991. The event stirred 
memories, as each of the 
women had also attended the 
original dedication of that 
temple in 1923, when Eliz-
abeth was twenty-three and 
Dora was twenty-one.90 (Rod 
Gustafson, Church News)
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facility, and released-time classes began in Taber in 1977. 
Home-study seminary was introduced in 1967 and online 
seminary in 2010.95

The institute of religion program, which provided sup-
port and weekday religious instruction to students attend-
ing secular colleges and universities, began in Lethbridge in 
1958.96 In 1992, the Church launched an expanded program 
to include not only college and university students in the 
institute program but other young adults as well, directing 
every stake to offer at least one institute class. All single 
members of the LDS Church under the age of thirty-one 
were encouraged to attend institute where possible.97

The first young single adult ward in Lethbridge was cre-
ated in 1969, with a second added in 1984. After the expan-
sion of the institute program in 1992, more young single 
adult wards were created in southern Alberta. They served 
as a magnet for young people from elsewhere to gather for 
religious worship and social interaction. In 2015, there 
were six YSA wards in Lethbridge, one in Cardston, and a 
YSA branch in Medicine Hat.98

Welfare Services
The Church has always had a mandate to address the tem-
poral as well as the spiritual needs of its members. In south-
ern Alberta, land was purchased for Church welfare farms. 
On these farms, volunteers planted, watered, and harvested 
hard red spring wheat for use throughout Canada. At 
harvest time, the wheat was stored in the Church-owned 

granary in Magrath, and when wheat was needed, volun-
teers bagged the wheat into twenty-five-pound bags and 
sent it to storehouses across Canada. Of the five bishops’ 
storehouses in Canada, one is located in Lethbridge, with 
the others in Calgary, Sherwood Park, Vancouver, and 
Toronto. In 2015, the Fort Macleod and Taber Stakes each 
had two welfare farms; and the Raymond, Magrath, and 
Lethbridge East stakes each had one, making seven in all. In 
addition to the welfare farms, the Church also owns more 
than a hundred thousand acres of ranchland in the area.99

Explaining why the Church invests in farms and 
ranches, President Hinckley said, “As you know, we have 
some welfare properties whose produce is used to supply 
food for the needy. These are operated strictly for char-
itable purposes and legally qualify for tax-exempt status. 
Then we have some commercial farm properties. I spoke 
earlier of the reserves of the Church. Prudent manage-
ment requires that this money be put to use. In that pro-
cess, we have purchased and hold some good, productive 
farms. They are well operated under capable management, 
and they yield a conservative rate of return. We have felt 
that good farms, over a long period of time, represent a 
safe investment where the assets of the Church may be 
preserved and enhanced, while at the same time they are 
available as an agricultural resource to feed people should 
there come a time of need.”100 Darren Bevans, the manager 
of Deseret Ranches of Alberta, states that Church-owned 
ranches fall under the same guidelines and purposes as 
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the farms, and adds that Deseret Ranches 
of Alberta is operating as a profitable and 
safe investment.101

Over time, the welfare services of the 
Church expanded to include family ser-
vices, adoption, mental health, employ-
ment resource centres, the addiction 
recovery program, and various other ser-
vices, provided by trained professionals 
and designed to provide support and help 
to Church members that is consistent with 
gospel principles.102 In 2015, these services 
were housed in the southern Alberta office, 
located in Lethbridge. The core services 
included a twenty-four-hour help line for 
priesthood leaders.

Leaders from Southern Alberta
Since the early years of the Cardston settle-
ment, Latter-day Saints have held political 
offices in southern Alberta, with John Woolf, 
Martin Woolf, and George Stringham 
serving in succession from 1902 to 1935 
as members of the Alberta legislature.103 

In 1935, the Social Credit Party swept to 
power in Alberta. Among those elected as 
Alberta MLAs were N. Eldon Tanner and 
Solon Low, both Latter-day Saints from 
southern Alberta, who served as important 

cabinet ministers. In the years that fol-
lowed, Edgar “Ted” W. Hinman served as 
Minister of Municipal Affairs from 1954 to 
1955 and Provincial Treasurer from 1955 
to 1964,104 Jack Ady served as Minister of 

◀ This seminary building in 
Taber, dedicated in 1997, is 
representative of seminary 
buildings located in commu-
nities from Cardston to Medi-
cine Hat. (Darrel Nelson)

▶ The seven designated welfare 
farms in southern Alberta 
are given production assess-
ments each year to get grain 
(hard spring red wheat) to 
this regional granary located 
in Magrath. When needed, 
the grain is then bagged and 
shipped to the five welfare facili-
ties in Canada. (Darrel Nelson)

▶ Deseret Ranches of Alberta 
is an example of the Church’s 
efforts to diversify its holdings 
and create safe investments for 
times of need. Land holds its 
value, and crops and livestock 
can be raised on it. Properties 
under the Deseret Ranches of 
Alberta include ranches that 
are known or have been known 
as the Bar K2, the Kircaldy, the 
Knight, the Horseshoe, Deer 
Haven, and recently the Taber 
Farms. (Darren Bevans)
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Advanced Education and Technology and 
Career Development from 1986 to 1997,106 
and Broyce Jacobs served on various par-
liamentary committees from 2001 to 2004 
and 2008 to 2012. Ted Hinman’s grandson, 
Paul Hinman, served as an MLA from 2004 
to 2008, as did Gary Bikman from 2012 to 
2015 and Grant Hunter in 2015.107

At the national level, John Black-
more and Solon Low, both from southern 
Alberta, were the first two Latter-day Saints 
to be elected as Members of Parliament in 
Ottawa, Blackmore from 1935 to 1958 and 
Low from 1945 to 1958.108 Grant Hill, a 
medical doctor from Okotoks, was elected 
to Parliament in 1993 and served until 
2004.109 Jim Hillyer, born in Lethbridge 
and raised in Stirling, successfully battled 
leukemia and was elected to the House of 
Commons in 2011, where he served until 
his sudden death in March 2016.110 In the 
realm of municipal politics, David H. Elton 
was the first Latter-day Saint mayor of Leth-
bridge, serving from 1935 to 1943.111

More than any other resource, people 
are southern Alberta’s greatest export. The 
movement of faithful Latter-day Saints 
from southern Alberta to other areas has 
contributed significantly to the growth 
and establishment of the Church across 
Canada. For example, when the Calgary 
and Edmonton Stakes were organized in 

1953 and 1960, respectively, all of the mem-
bers of the two stake presidencies and most 
of the high councils and other leaders came 
from southern Alberta.112 Their impact has 
also been felt in neighbouring provinces, 
British Columbia and Saskatchewan, and 
far away as Ottawa, Toronto, and Halifax.

As demonstrated in the sidebar, the 
number of general Church officers who 
have come from southern Alberta are many 

◀ Latter-day Saint youth are 
being instructed in job-seeking 
skills by David Reeve, the 
manager of LDS Employment 
Resource Services in Lethbridge 
in 2016. The stated purpose of 
the centre is to help individ-
uals complete résumés, learn 
interview skills, discover job 
options, and learn self-reliance. 
The main goal of the employ-
ment centre, Reeve said, was to 
ensure that individuals seeking 
assistance receive a sense of 
hope.105 (Darrel Nelson)

◀ A native of Stirling, Alberta, 
and a returned missionary 
from the Canada Montreal 
Mission, Jim Hillyer was one 
of only five members of the 
Church in Canada to become 
a Member of Parliament. He 
was originally elected in 2011 
to the House of Commons for 
the federal Conservative Party 
of Canada, representing the 
district of Lethbridge. In the 
federal election of 2015, he 
was reelected, but this time 
representing the Medicine 
Hat-Cardston-Warner district 
due to boundary changes. 
Hillyer died unexpectedly in 
March 2016, sitting at his desk 
in his Ottawa office. 
(Jim Hillyer)
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General Church Leaders from Southern Alberta
Hugh B. Brown lived in Spring Coulee, Cardston, and Lethbridge as a young man. He was appointed the first pres-
ident of the Lethbridge Stake and served from 1921 to 1927. He was called as an Assistant to the Quorum of the 
Twelve in 1953, ordained an Apostle in 1958, and served in the First Presidency as a counselor to President David O. 
McKay from 1961 to 1970.

Nathan Eldon Tanner lived in Aetna, Cardston, and Hillspring as a young man. He was a member of the Alberta 
Legislative Assembly from 1935 to 1952, and during that period he served for thirteen years as president of the 
Edmonton Branch. He was appointed the first president of the Calgary Stake and served from 1953 to 1960, when 
he became an Assistant to the Twelve. In 1962 he was appointed a member of the Quorum of the Twelve and served 
in the First Presidency from 1963 to 1982 as counselor to four Church Presidents.

Victor L. Brown, born in Cardston, Alberta, became Presiding Bishop of the Church in 1972, serving until 1985. 
He later was a member of the First Quorum of the Seventy.

William H. Bennett, from Taber, Alberta, was called as regional representative in 1967, became an Assistant to 
the Twelve in 1970, and served from 1976 to 1978 in the First Quorum of the Seventy.

Ted E. Brewerton, born and raised in Raymond, served in the Church as a bishop, stake president, mission 
president, and regional representative. He was appointed to the First Quorum of the Seventy in 1978. In 1979 he 
was Area President of Brazil and was later Area President for Central America. He was president of the Mexico City 
Temple from 1997 to 1999.

Merlin R. Lybbert was born in Cardston and raised in Glenwood. Prior to his call as a General Authority, he was 
a bishop, stake president, and regional representative. In 1989 he became a member of the Second Quorum of the 
Seventy. He served as the General President of the Sunday School from 1992 to 1994. From 1994 to 1997, he was 
president of the Cardston Alberta Temple.

Ardeth Kapp, born and raised in Glenwood, was a counselor in the Young Women General Presidency from 
1972 to 1978. She became Young Women General President in 1984 and served until 1992. She accompanied her 
husband, Heber, when he presided over the Canada Vancouver Mission from 1992 to 1995. She later served as the 
matron of the Cardston Alberta Temple from 2000 to 2003.

Lowell D. Wood was born in Cardston and grew up in Glenwood. Prior to his call as a General Authority, he 
served as a branch president, bishop, and counselor in a stake presidency. In 1992 he was appointed to the Second 
Quorum of Seventy. He died in Samoa on assignment in 1997.

Elaine Jack was born and raised in Cardston. She served as counselor in the Young Women General Presidency 
from 1987 to 1990. In 1990 she was appointed Relief Society General President, serving for seven years. From 1997 
to 2000 she was the matron of the Cardston Alberta Temple.

Robert E. Sackley was born in Australia but lived in Alberta from 1954 to 1979. He was a school business admin-
istrator in Cardston and a senior administrator for the city of Edmonton. From 1973 to 1979, he served as president 
of a growing community college in Medicine Hat. He served twice as mission president between 1979 and 1988, and 
in 1988 he was appointed a member of the Seventy, serving until his death in 1993.

William R. Walker was born in Lethbridge and raised in Raymond. He served as a bishop, stake president, and 
president of the Japan Tokyo South Mission. In 2002 he was appointed a member of the Seventy. He became the 
Executive Director of the Temple Department of the Church in 2007. He was released from the First Quorum of 
the Seventy in October 2014 and given emeritus status.

Gerald E. Melchin was born in Kitchener, Ontario, but lived in Raymond as a young father for fourteen years 
before moving to Calgary. He was called to the Seventy in 1988 and served until 1994. He was president of the 
Toronto Ontario Temple from 1993 to 1996. Melchin passed away in 2016.

Randall K. Bennett was born in Magrath and served in various Church callings, including bishop’s counselor, 
stake high councilor, and president of the Russia Samara Mission. Sustained to the Second Quorum of Seventy in 
April 2011, he was serving in the Europe East Area Presidency as of 2015.

Richard K. Melchin and Terrence C. Smith, both of Raymond, and James E. Evanson, of Taber, all served as stake 
presidents of southern Alberta stakes before being called as Area Seventies.
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more than one might expect for a community of its size.113 
This is not meant to overlook the significant contributions 
made by members of the Church from southern Alberta in 
every field of endeavor, be it politics, medicine, education, 
business, or culture. They too have been remarkable.

THE ONGOING MISSION
As the Church in southern Alberta moved further into the 
twenty-first century, its members continued to face new 
and varied challenges. But as was the case during the Great 
Depression and the war eras, the Church provided inspired 
policies and programs to help meet member and commu-
nity needs, both temporally and spiritually.

So what is the current state of affairs of the Church in 
southern Alberta? Stake presidents in southern Alberta, 
interviewed in 2014 and 2015, reported that the future 
looked promising. Without exception, leaders commended 
the Saints for their faithfulness in the payment of their tithes 
and offerings. Attendance remained consistently high, and 
support for the missionary programs of the Church was 
exceptional. Young men and women were entering the mis-
sion field in record numbers, especially after the lowering 
of the missionary age in 2012, and the number of senior 

couples serving missions had also increased. Priesthood 
and auxiliary leaders were reaching out to the less active, 
with many positive results.114

As the local Church population increased, the urban 
trend continued. Lethbridge, which started as a dependent 
branch of the Alberta Stake, had three stakes in 2015. Even 
more telling was the fact that Calgary and Edmonton, which 
had once been dependent branches of the southern Alberta 
stakes, had seven and four stakes respectively by the end 
of 2015, and each had a temple, bringing the total number 
of temples in Alberta to three. Of the twenty-three stakes 
in Alberta in 2015, seventeen were located in cities with a 
population of fifty-five thousand or more.115 In southern 
Alberta specifically, the majority of the stakes were located 
in communities that were exhibiting steady growth.

President Richard Low of the Lethbridge Alberta West 
Stake indicated that unprecedented growth had occurred 
in West Lethbridge, with new housing and commercial 
developments, as well as an increasing student and young 
married population. He envisioned the day when a second 
stake would be needed in West Lethbridge.116

The Lethbridge Stake, geographically speaking, was in 
2015 the smallest in Canada, and, according to Cameron 
MacLennan, the stake president, this presented some unique 
demographics. There was a high single adult population 
because of the college and university, and there was also a 
high aging population, with a significant gap of those between 
the ages of thirty-five and fifty-five. Still, the stake had a 40 
percent activity rate, based on sacrament meeting attendance, 
and missionary work was ongoing and consistent.117

David Stewart, president of the Lethbridge East Stake, 
reported that his stake, like most of the stakes in southern 
Alberta, had been affected by the recent downturn in the 
economy, particularly with dropping oil prices. However, 
efforts are being made through Church-based programs to 
assist those who are unemployed or underemployed.118

Dale Salmon, president of the Medicine Hat Alberta 
Stake, noted that convert baptisms were increasing in his 
stake, and that, because of increasing work and business 
opportunities, the move-out rate of Church members had 
slowed considerably. Many second-generation families 
are in the area, raising their families and strengthening 
the Church. The seminary and institute programs were 
strong and successful, and the Church was becoming better 
known among the area residents, the majority of whom are 
not members of the Church.119

Carlos Jensen, president of the Raymond Alberta Stake, 
and Jamie McMahon, president of the Magrath Alberta Stake, 
both reported on the growth of their stakes, as more families 
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chose to live in smaller towns and commute 
to Lethbridge, and on the success of youth 
programs, such as family history and temple 
work activities and youth treks.120

The Cardston and Cardston West Stakes 
had many multigenerational families living 
within their boundaries, which provided 
a firm spiritual base. The two stakes, with 
seventeen Church units between them, 
were providing a high number of temple 
workers. Brian Low, president of the Card-
ston Alberta West Stake, indicates that his 
stake had over four hundred workers serv-
ing in the temple, which added an enviable 
strength to the stake and facilitated mis-
sionary work and growth.121

A challenge still facing some of the 
stakes with an agriculture-based econ-
omy is the changing dynamics in pop-
ulation. President Alan Poytress of the 
Fort Macleod Alberta Stake indicated that 
sons were no longer following in their 

fathers’ footsteps by staying on the family 
farms. They were seeking other careers, 
and young families were moving to larger 
centres. The stake was feeling the impact 
but was actively maintaining its focus on 
reactivation and hastening the work.122 The 
situation was similar in the Taber Stake. 
President Mark Baldry indicated that as 
family farms became larger, younger fam-
ilies were moving away to find employ-
ment. However, some professionals, such 
as doctors and teachers, had moved into 
the stake. The multigenerational families 
who remained in the area were strong in 
the gospel and contributed to ongoing mis-
sionary efforts.123

Although attendance at the Cardston 
Alberta Temple dropped in 2012 with 
the completion of the Calgary Alberta 
Temple, attendance has continued to grow 
as members across southern Alberta have 
increasingly looked to the temple as the 

 During the severe flooding 
in High River, Alberta, in June 
2013, the stakes in southern 
Alberta organized cleanup and 
emergency relief efforts. Yellow 
“Helping Hands” vests were 
seen everywhere as volunteers 
Saints, including youth and 
young single adults, arrived by 
the busload to help the belea-
guered community. As one 
grateful resident exclaimed, 
“Everyone in town is talking 
about the Mormons and what 
they are doing.” (Cory Bevans)

◀ Born in Cardston, Alberta, 
Elaine Jack served for seven 
years (1990-97) as Relief 
Society General President. 
(Busath.com)
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great symbol of their Church member-
ship.124 They have also become increasingly 
involved in family history research, and 
they desire to take family names to the 
temple to do the work for their kindred 
dead.125 All of the above indicators show 
that despite challenges unique to their cir-
cumstances, the southern Alberta stakes 
have remained strong and vibrant.

CONCLUSIONS
The entire story of the Church in southern 
Alberta is that of faithful members who are 
deeply rooted in their testimonies and in 
their loyalty to the Church. The temple has 
been the focus of their spiritual life and the 
symbol of their commitment to the gospel 
of Jesus Christ. While economic times have 
fluctuated and the population has shifted 
from rural to urban areas, southern Alberta 
has not only been “the seedbed” for the 
growth of the Church in Canada but has 

also provided a rich harvest of Church and 
civic leaders. The strength of the southern 
Alberta Saints attests to the blessings that 
have come from having a temple in their 
midst—blessings that have created the 

“strong multigenerational church commu-
nities” which then-Elder Eyring lauded 
when he visited the Raymond Stake in 
October 2000. The powerful influence of 
the temple and the close integration of faith, 
family, and community, noted by Ardeth G. 
Kapp in her discussion of growing up 
in Glenwood, have been vital in helping 
southern Alberta LDS communities fulfill 
their ongoing mission.

◀ Those who drive the road 
between Lethbridge and Card-
ston will be impressed with the 
vast number of wind turbines 
near Magrath. The agricultural 
economy has also changed in 
that pivot irrigation systems, as 
the one shown here near Taber, 
have nearly replaced flood 
irrigation in those areas under 
irrigation. (Darrel Nelson)

 Train station in Stirling. 
Canada’s Mormon Trail 
begins in Cardston and ends 
in Stirling. It includes several 
national and provincial his-
toric sites and has many points 
of interest that represent the 
cultural heritage the Saints 
have had in settling southern 
Alberta. (Darrel Nelson)
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By the end of 
2015, Calgary had 
more stakes of the 

Church (seven) than 
any other city in 

Canada. While there 
were many struggles 

and challenges 
in the years after 
the arrival of the 

first Latter-day 
Saint families in 

1910, the Church 
has experienced 

remarkable growth 
since the formation 
of the first stake in 
1953. A gleaming 

midsized temple was 
dedicated in 2012 
to serve the people 

in this growing 
metropolis and 

surrounding area.




